

Appendix 4: Literature Review

Contents

Introduction	3
Parental engagement, home school communications and technology	5
What is parental involvement or engagement?	6
Home-school communication	7
The role of technology in home school communication	7
'Hard-to-reach' parents and barriers to parental involvement	8
Learning in families and technology	12
Families and their time	12
What is family learning or learning in families?	13
Family learning: structured courses and programmes	14
Extended schools and family learning	
Barriers to family learning	15
Home access and the digital divide	
Technology and learning in the family	17
Summary and implications	18
Poforonces	21

Introduction

The purpose of this review is to provide the groundwork for empirical research on the role of technologies in facilitating parental engagement in their children's education and learning in general.

This is a broad area and, as such, we divided the review into two sections:

- parental engagement, home school communications and the role of technology
- learning in families and the role of technology.

In each section, we discuss the background and policy context as well as review some of the evidence of the role of technology in each of these areas.

The first section focuses on parental engagement specifically with their children's school education. It begins by defining parental engagement and discusses education policy in relation to this. We then focus on home-school communication and, subsequently, how technology is being used to facilitate this. We end the section with a note on 'hard-to-reach' parents, exploring the different ways in which certain groups of parents may be excluded or disengaged from their children's education.

The second section covers the wider topic of parents' engagement with their children's learning. We examine the learning that takes place beyond the school, which occurs formally and informally within families. The section begins by outlining the broader picture of how families now spend their time. We define 'family learning' and 'learning in families' and outline the policy context. We also explore the barriers that some families face. We then discuss the background to formal family learning schemes and their now prominent role within the extended schools agenda. Technology plays a central role in policy in extending learning beyond the classroom. We discuss issues that relate to home access to technology and the digital divide. We end with a discussion about the informal learning that takes place in families and the role of technology in this.

Throughout this review, we focus on the barriers and challenges to parental engagement as well as parents' access and use of technology. Thus, we maintain an important focus on the inequalities of social class, ethnicity, gender and location.

It is important to note that this is not a systematic review of all available evidence on parental engagement, family learning and technology. Rather, it provides sketch of the current landscape of knowledge. For a fuller review of the literature and research in this area, see Desforges and Abouchar's ¹ literature review on parental involvement and Grant's review ² on learning in families and digital technologies.

This literature review concludes with a summary of the implications drawn from our research.

© Becta 2009

¹ Desforges and Abouchar 2003

² Grant 2009

Parental engagement, home school communications and technology

This section focuses on parental engagement policy and practice. In particular, it looks at the role of technology in enhancing the engagement of parents in their children's education, specifically in relation to their formal schooling.

Parental involvement and engagement in children's learning is recognised to be highly important within policy and practice, most recently reinforced in *Every Child Matters*, Higher Standards, Better Schools for All, and the Children's Plan. Each of these pledges to increase parental involvement in schools and ensure that parents' voices are heard.

Parental involvement or engagement appears to be underpinned by two main factors. First, there is the widely held assumption that parents are a child's first teacher or 'co-educator'. Second, there is a body of evidence that indicates parental involvement positively impacts on a child's education. In recent policy discussions home-school relationships appear to be driven by the idea of empowering parents. Increasingly governments are '...put[ting] the parent and pupil at the centre of the system'. There is an assumption made by policy-makers, that an informed parent is a more engaged parent. There is a belief that this parental engagement will not only raise educational attainment, but also make for more active, equal and democratic institutions.

Since 1995, Ofsted inspection guidelines have involved exploring the level of parental involvement in schools. In 1998, the Home-School Agreement (HSA) was enacted outlining the expected role of the school, the parent and the pupil. While the HSA was criticised by some for not being mandatory, to others argue that the HSA has the potential to promote the development of two-way communication between the home and the school.

However, it is important to recognise that parental engagement is demanding, challenging and complex. The level and type of parental involvement is shaped by socio-economic factors of the parent, such as class, gender, race and ethnicity. ¹² This raises questions about those groups of parents that schools and policy-makers consider least involved in the education of their children.

³ DfES 2003

⁴ DfES 2005b

⁵ DCSF 2007a

⁶ DfES 2006

⁷ Bastiani 1997, Desforges and Abouchar 2003, Hara and Burke 1998, Tomlinson 1991

⁸ DfES 2005b, p1

⁹ Bastiani and Wyse 1999, Hood 1999

¹⁰ Ouston and Hood 2000

¹¹ Farrell and Jones 2000, p259

¹² Crozier and Reay 2005, Moon and Ivins 2004, Vincent 1996

What is parental involvement or engagement?

It is first necessary to explore what is meant by parental involvement or engagement. The Department for Children, Schools and Families (DCSF) emphasises two fundamental dimensions of parental involvement: participation in the education of their child *per se*; and/or participation in the life of the school.¹³

Current policy is shifting towards an emphasis on promoting parental *engagement*, which is often seen as a more encompassing term. Some activities that the literature cites as forming the basis for parental engagement include:

- attending parent-teacher conferences
- attending programmes featuring students
- engaging in volunteer activities
- providing help with homework
- discussing children's schoolwork and experiences at school
- structuring home activities.¹⁴

Some of the roles that form the basis of parental engagement, cited by this literature review, include:

- volunteering as classroom assistants
- organising events
- accepting formal positions in the governance of the school, such as becoming parent governors, joining the parent-teacher association (PTA), parents' council and school/parents' forum.

Policy suggests that, ideally, parental engagement should result in parents and teachers working in partnership for the benefit of the child.¹⁵ In essence, it seems that home-school communication is at the centre of a successful school parental involvement strategy.

-

¹³ Harris and Goodall 2007, DCSF 2008

¹⁴ Lee and Bowen 2006, p194

¹⁵ Centre for Educational Research and Innovation 1997

Home-school communication

Government policy states, and educational research concurs, that home-school communication is important because when parents are better informed they are more able to support their children's education.¹⁶ It is therefore assumed that 'uninformed parents are less able to support their children's schooling'.¹⁷

Schools communicate with parents in a variety of ways. This includes:

- parents' evenings
- informal discussion between parents and teachers
- school reports
- meetings requested by parents to talk specifically about their child
- · written communication that children take home
- technologically mediated communication.

Research has found that written forms of communication are becoming increasingly popular. However, communicating with parents through reports and newsletters has been criticised as a one-way form of communication. A study by Sure Start dentifies one-way communication as negatively impacting on parental involvement. Research suggests that home-school communication should be two-way. This is where information and knowledge flows in both directions, rather than just from school to parent. Second communication are becoming increasingly popular. Start density and newsletters has been criticised as a one-way form of communication. A study by Sure Start density and second communication are becoming increasingly popular.

The role of technology in home school communication

Technology has the potential to facilitate the involvement of parents in the education of their children. While it has opened up new possibilities, it is challenging and requires a certain level of coordination and management.²¹

ICT has enabled schools to provide a wide range of information to parents online. It has helped parents to make informed decisions²² and provides new modes of communication to go alongside, or even replace, traditional methods, such as face-to-face meetings, telephone calls and written letters.

_

¹⁶ DCSF 2007b, Desforges and Abouchar 2003, Epstein 1992, Hara and Burke 1998, Muschamp et al 2007, Revnolds 2005. Vincent 1996

¹⁷ Stern 2003, p14

¹⁸ Moon and Ivins 2004, Peters et al 2008

¹⁹ Sure Start 2007

²⁰ DfES 2006, Centre for Educational Research and Innovation 1997, Hornby 2000.

²¹ Bastiani 1997, Desforges and Abouchar 2003, Fredriksson et al 2008

²² DfES 2005a

These technology-enabled modes of communication include using:

- e-mail and text messaging to communicate with parents
- school websites to display key information for parents and pupils
- e-portals (or some form of online reporting), allowing parents to monitor their children's progress, punctuality and performance
- learning platforms
- the mychildatschool.com website.²³

Secondary schools now need to provide online reporting for parents by 2010, and primary schools by 2012.²⁴ To this end, some schools have adopted e-portals or learning platforms.²⁵

Becta²⁶ identifies four key ways that ICT can contribute to improve parental engagement. ICT can:

- provide a convenient way for parents to access up-to-date information about their children's learning, anywhere and anytime
- enable parents to be more engaged with their children's learning, which drives improvement
- support more flexible working arrangements and distribution of work for staff ²⁷
- enable information to be captured more efficiently as part of learning and teaching processes that exploit technology.

Technology can also:

- increase the efficiency of school administrations and the effectiveness of school management ²⁸
- increase transparency through improved communications with pupils and parents.²⁹

'Hard-to-reach' parents and barriers to parental involvement

Schools are urged to welcome all parents.³⁰ However, evaluations of parental engagement initiatives³¹ have recognised that parental engagement is complex and

www.dcsf.gov.uk/pns/DisplayPN.cgi?pn_id=2008_0006

26 Becta 2008

²³ Mychildatschool.com is a national initiative that offers parents access to information on their children's progress, attendance and behaviour via the school's administration system.

²⁴ See DCSF announcement 2008

²⁵ DCSF 2007c

²⁷ See also Fredriksson et al 2008

²⁸ Hollingworth et al 2008, Lawson and Comber 1999

²⁹ Somekh et al 2003

³⁰ DfES 2005b

³¹ Alan et al 2007, Borg and Mayo 2001, Harris and Goodall 2007

is influenced by numerous factors. These include availability of time, transport, social and other material resources, which can create barriers to engagement.³² These barriers need to be taken into account by schools and policy-makers when developing parental engagement strategies, practices and programmes.³³

Social and economic disadvantage

As Reynolds³⁴ notes, such barriers are more likely to be encountered by socially and economically disadvantaged parents than middle-class parents. Parental engagement is strongly linked to family income, social class, ethnicity, and previous educational experience. These parents are sometimes described as being 'hard-to-reach'. The phrase 'hard-to-reach parents' refers to those parents that schools have found to be less likely to engage in the education of their children. However, some argue that this phrase creates a deficit model of parents and that it is the school that can be 'hard-to-reach', rather than the parents themselves.³⁵

Some of these parents face significant barriers when trying to engage in their children's education.

Time, distance and circumstance barriers include:

- work commitments
- child care for other children
- the pressures of single-parenthood
- living in a rural area
- disability or serious illnesses.

Social and cultural barriers include:

- lack of skills or knowledge
- different cultural expectations as to who is responsible for a child's education
- parents' concerns around their own capabilities and knowledge
- negative experiences with education
- lack of confidence in dealing with those in schools and authority, (especially among some working-class parents)
- low levels of English literacy, especially among certain ethnic groups.
 Research has shown that schools have a particular difficulty in engaging

35 Crozier and Davies 2007

³² Reay 1996, Reynolds 2005, Vincent 1996

³³ Edwards and Warin 1999

³⁴ Reynolds 2005

parents that are not fluent in the English language. It also shows that there are low levels of participation from such groups of parents.³⁶ ³⁷

There is also the barrier of cynicism regarding parental input. Many parents perceive that they lack power to influence their children's school.³⁸

Conversely, research suggests that middle-class families have a greater level of social and cultural capital to advance their children in the education system.³⁹

School cultures, ethos and practices

School cultures significantly impact on parents' ability and willingness to engage. There are a number of issues around this:

- the larger the school, the more impersonal it becomes and the harder it is for parents to engage⁴⁰
- schools sometimes do not make it easy for parents to become involved⁴¹
- as children get older, parental involvement can be seen as an unwelcome intrusion
- teachers do not always view parental engagement as being positive⁴²
- staff may not be trained to engage with the diverse needs of parents⁴³
- school information can contain too much jargon⁴⁴
- some members of staff may stigmatise some parents (such as single mothers, fathers or minority ethnic parents) because these parents do not appear to be actively involved⁴⁵
- some minority ethnic parents feel that their involvement in school is unwelcome.⁴⁶

These barriers and challenges to parental engagement have important consequences for those policies and practices aimed at engaging parents and consequently the role that technology has to play. Feinstein⁴⁷ suggests that there are three key policy issues that need to be addressed in order to deliver effective interactions between schools and parents. These are:

³⁶ Sneddon 1997

³⁷ See Crozier 1997, Crozier 1998, Crozier 1999, Harris and Goodall 2007, Lareau 1987, Tett 2001, Vincent 2002, Vincent 2000, Williams et al 2002 for more detail.

³⁸ Williams et al 2002

³⁹ Di Maggio 2001, Reay 1998

⁴⁰ Page et al 2009

⁴¹ DfES 2005b

⁴² Keating and Taylorson 1999

⁴³ Alan et al 2007

⁴⁴ Moon and Ivins 2004, Peters et al 2008

⁴⁵ Issa et al 2008, Powell 1991, Reay 1996

⁴⁶ Maylor et al 2005, Mirza and Reay 2000

⁴⁷ Feinstein 2003

- the integration of services
- the importance of processes alongside structures
- the need for high quality interventions that are enduring, personalised, lifelong and appropriate.

These recommendations were consolidated in a joint report by the Family and Parenting Institute, the National Children's Bureau and the Institute for Education. The report suggests that schools need to change their focus and that professionals (including teachers and headteachers) should be equipped with the skills required to respond to children, young people, parents and to the communities in which they operate. However, research suggests that interactive communication between parents and schools is still absent. 49

In terms of technology, parents without adequate financial resources and technological skills are disadvantaged. While new technologies have been found to be a more effective way of communicating with some hard-to-reach groups of parents such as fathers and non-resident parents and those in full-time work, other parents favour more traditional methods such as the telephone, letters or face-to-face meetings. 51

⁴⁸ Feinstein et al 2007 49 Smith et al 2008

⁵⁰ Hollingworth et al 2008

⁵¹ Peters et al 2008

Learning in families and technology

This second section covers the wider topic of parents' engagement with their children's learning. It explores the learning that takes place beyond the school, which occurs formally and informally within families. The policy context, specifically formal family learning schemes, the extended schools agenda and the Home Access scheme (which ultimately aims to provide access to technology to all children at home) are discussed as key facilitators to learning in families with technology. The literature that emphasises the barriers to learning that some groups face and hence engaging in their children's learning is highlighted. The section concludes by discussing the role that new technologies play in family learning.

Families and their time

When discussing learning in families it is important to take into account the changing dynamics of families in contemporary society: ⁵²

- more children now live in single parent families than ever before
- parents' working patterns have changed with more than 50 per cent of women now working either full-time or part-time
- people in Britain have the longest working hours in Europe
- the growth of the 24/7 economy means more parents now work shift work.

However, despite more mothers working, and parents working longer hours, timeuse studies show that parents spend more time now with their children compared to the 1950s and 60s.⁵³

Recent research on the role of technology in learning in families⁵⁴ shows that teenagers now spend the majority of their time at home on the internet. Teenagers also said that they used the internet more for socialising, play and their own research than for formal learning.⁵⁵ Nevertheless, they still reported spending time with their family (82 per cent, with the highest percentage spending five hours or more); time which may well overlap with other activities such as watching television, surfing the internet and playing computer games. This picture shows that there are opportunities for learning in families and a role for technologies within this. This is particularly the case since technologies appear to be such a central feature of contemporary home life.

52 See Family and Parenting Institute 2005.

53 Ibid

54 Hart et al 2008

55 Ibid

What is family learning or learning in families?

Family learning

It is important to define what is meant by 'family learning'. Family learning is commonly used as an umbrella term for a range of programmes or initiatives. It can include formal or informal learning, lifelong or intergenerational learning, adult or family education or family literacy, language and numeracy (FLLN).

Many have offered definitions,⁵⁶ most relating specifically to formally funded and taught programmes. According to Ofsted,⁵⁷ family learning in England is that which: "concentrates on learning which brings together different family members to work on a common theme for some if not the whole programme [...] the focus is on planned activity in which adults and children come together, to work and learn collaboratively."

Implicit in the term is the idea that several different members of the family will be involved including mothers, fathers, children, grandparents, and other extended family members. ⁵⁸ However, in practice, the adult learner in the family is usually the mother. ⁵⁹ Attendance by fathers is rare. ⁶⁰

Learning in families

'Learning in families' includes the notion of informal learning. Defining informal learning can be contentious, although it can be understood broadly as the unstructured and spontaneous learning that takes place through daily activities. These activities occur outside of formal learning environments and take place in areas such as the community or in the home. Informal learning can also include the learning that takes place through leisure activities. ⁶¹ Grant's ⁶² work at Futurelab, uses the term 'learning in families' to encompass a wide range of activities between parents, children and the extended family, including:

- formal, non-formal, informal
- parents and children learning together
- parents helping children learn
- parents learning from children
- parents learning skills in order to help their children learn.

58 Rose and Atkin 2007

⁵⁶ Horne and Haggart 2004, NIACE 2003, Ofsted 2000

⁵⁷ Ofsted 2000, p5

⁵⁹ Brooks et al 1996, Rose and Atkin 2007

⁶⁰ Brooks et al 1996, Goldman 2005, Ofsted 2000

⁶¹ Coombs and Ahmed 1974

⁶² Grant 2009

Therefore, in this research we use the term 'learning in families', which encompasses the concept of 'family learning'. We use 'family learning' to refer to structured courses and programmes. It is to these we now turn.

Family learning: structured courses and programmes

In the past decade or so, formal provision of adult and community education has been repackaged and reconceptualised, with a focus on creating a joined-up, interagency approach to families and their well-being. This has involved a growth in formal family learning schemes, coupled with parenting education programmes. This is embedded in the wider extended schools agenda, but all have the common aim of assisting parents and families.

Family learning programmes historically were aimed at families living in areas of heightened economic deprivation and with high levels of unemployment, as these were considered to be factors connected with low educational engagement. Currently, in England, formal family learning programmes are funded by the Learning and Skills Council (LSC) through adult learning. These programmes are targeted at parents with low levels of literacy and numeracy. Reaching both generations at once and engaging them in learning was a strategy designed to help break the 'cycle of disadvantage'. Parents' involvement in their children's education and learning has been a key policy target seen to improve economic and social well-being for disadvantaged families. This is in line with the five desired outcomes of the Government's Every Child Matters agenda and implies that family learning schemes are expected to have a knock-on effect and promote further informal learning in the family.

Family Programmes in England cover two strands: family literacy, language, numeracy (also known as FLLN) and wider family learning. The best-known early, formal programmes were the Family Literacy Schemes set up by the Adult Literacy and Basic Skills Unit in the mid 1990s (renamed the Basic Skills Agency). These schemes were evaluated and showed statistically significant advances in achievement in reading and writing for both parents and children. Parents reported gains in self-esteem. They also reported that communication with their children improved, as well as communication with their children's teachers. Their success rested on a clear purpose, a focus on achievement and excellent teaching. However, several evaluators and researchers have been sceptical of the benefits

⁶³ For a fuller discussion of this see Department for Education and Employment 2001, Frater 1995, OECD 1997, UNESCO 2005.

⁶⁴ Desforges and Abouchar 2003, p73

⁶⁵ Every Child Matters was published by the DfES (now DCSF) in 2003. Every Child Matters is a shared programme of change to improve outcomes for all children and young people. The five outcomes for children are to: be healthy; stay safe; enjoy and achieve; make a positive contribution and achieve economic well-being. 66 Brooks et al 1997

⁶⁷ Desforges and Abouchar 2003

that family learning programmes can bring above and beyond other basic skills programmes). ⁶⁸

Extended schools and family learning

Current policy strategies see extended schools as a major provider of family learning schemes. An extended school works with the local authority and other partners to offer access to a range of services and activities beyond the formal curriculum. ⁶⁹ The ultimate aim is to better support parents and families. A wider aim is to facilitate parental involvement in their children's school and learning. A recent survey of extended schools found that 34 per cent of primary schools and 20 per cent of secondary schools offered family learning on their premises. ⁷⁰

The role of extending schools' ICT facilities in family learning

Becta⁷¹ argues that the effective use of ICT can help facilitate the extended schools' agenda. Schools have been encouraged to extend their ICT facilities in order to help:

- open up facilities to the wider community
- bridge the digital divide
- build skills to raise the nations ICT capability
- develop an e-competent population
- enhance access to e-government services
- improve internet access and skills for small businesses.

The above also goes some way to supporting learning in families. Providing access to ICT and broadband facilities on or off site, has the potential to level out some of the inequalities in access and use.⁷²

Becta⁷³ recommends that schools create opportunities for pupils and their families to learn together. It suggests that combining classes in literacy (or English as a second language) with ICT use is successful in drawing in traditionally hard-to-reach groups, particularly in deprived areas.

Barriers to family learning

With the focus on targeting deprived communities for family learning schemes, there is a danger of taking a deficit approach to families who appear not to be involved in their children's formally recognised learning. While there may be a correlation between unemployment, low parental education and subsequent children's

70 Chamberlain et al 2006

_

⁶⁸ Desforges and Abouchar 2003, Hannon and Bird 2004, Hannon et al 2006, NIACE 2003

⁶⁹ DCSF 2005

⁷¹ Becta undated

⁷² Hollingworth et al 2008

⁷³ Becta undated

educational attainment, there is a danger that this then translates into a 'blame the parents' interpretation. This blame approach lacks an understanding of the structural barriers at play in relation to social class, ethnicity and language.

That is:

- some parents may feel that they lack the skills or knowledge to help their children⁷⁴
- working-class families with a history of traditional manual occupations can see the formal education system as something alien and 'not for them'
- there may be ethnic and cultural differences with different cultural expectations as to who is responsible for a child's education⁷⁶
- some parents are not fluent in English⁷⁷
- there may be a lack of knowledge of the education system and other social and cultural capital.^{78 79}

This work, and others, ⁸⁰ warns against a 'cultural imperialism' within parenting policies that imposes certain (mainly white, middle-class) values and experiences of parenting and may exclude or pathologise those who do not share this experience. Parents in the Family and Parenting Institute's (FPI) research asserted that there are many different ways to 'parent', not just, as one parent put it, the 'white middle class norm'. ⁸¹

Home access and the digital divide

Nevertheless, becoming ICT competent is an increasingly important skill, especially in light of the changing nature of the economy and the shift from an industrial and manufacturing economy to a 'knowledge-based' economy. Be Despite the economic drive for technological and digital literacy, there exists a digital divide, within the UK. ICT access and use is unevenly distributed both social and spatially. It is strongly aligned to socio-economic status, income, gender, level of education, age, geography and ethnicity. In essence, those seen as 'hard-to-reach' have the most difficulty in accessing technology and are therefore least likely to use it to its full potential. This further hampers their ability to engage in their children's learning and education.

78 Ibid

⁷⁴ Williams et al 2002

⁷⁵ Archer and Yamashita 2003, McDowell 2003, Nayak 2006, Reay 2001, Willis 1977

⁷⁶ Issa et al 2008

⁷⁷ Ibid

⁷⁹ See the main document for a fuller discussion on social and cultural capital.

⁸⁰ Dyson and Robson 1999, Keating and Taylorson 1999

⁸¹ FPI 2005, p3

⁸² See Grant 2007, DCMS 2009, NACCCE 1999, Selwyn and Facer 2007

⁸³ Sefton-Green 2004

⁸⁴ Warf 2001 in Selwyn 2003

⁸⁵ Selwyn 2003

Consequently, in September 2008 the Government launched the Home Access programme to provide computers and connectivity to all families with school-aged children. The scheme links with the extended schools agenda and aims to enhance children's learning at home. However, researchers have highlighted that 'the key issue is not just unequal access to computers [read technology] but rather the unequal ways that computers are *used*'. Reople from different social class or socioeconomic groups use technology differently and for different purposes at home (or outside of school) and this reproduces similar social inequalities. Turther research is needed to explore how technologies are used in the home by different social groups. Representations of the school of the school of the home by different social groups.

Technology and learning in the family

The Becta Harnessing Technology Review 2008 states that 'there is relatively little evidence to date on the use of technology to support family learning'. However, two recent reports provide an indication of the potential. Hart and colleagues argue that there does seem to be evidence from their research 'of children and parents helping each other and learning together'. However, two

Ninety per cent of those surveyed in Grant's research claimed they did use technology when learning in the family. The most popular medium for family learning cited was the internet. They found that three in five parents said they would like to use technologies for learning (if they didn't use them already) or use them more (if they did use them already). While Hart found that eight out of ten children claimed to help other family members use the internet, help from parents to children was less prevalent. All parents interviewed for the study felt that it was important to help children with the internet because of its relevance in society. It was also seen by parents as a vital learning tool. However, a large percentage of children claimed that nobody helped them with the internet at home (43 per cent) and the majority of children said they would like their parents to have more time to help them. This raises key questions about the potential for children's role in teaching and facilitating learning with technology.

In order to truly investigate the learning that goes on in families, it is important to take on board examples of learning that occur beyond the classroom, often at the nexus of education, entertainment and play (for example while using video games or watching television). ⁹¹ A case in point is the work of Gee, who writes about video

_

⁸⁶ Warschauer 2003, p46, in Selwyn and Facer 2007

⁸⁷ Angus, et al 2004, Grant 2007, Lee 2008

⁸⁸ See Davies et al Forthcoming

⁸⁹ Grant 2009, Hart et al 2008 and see Davies et al Forthcoming

⁹⁰ Hart et al 2008, p7

⁹¹ Gee 2004

games and learning in the USA. He argues that what people are doing when they play computer games is often 'good learning'. ⁹²

If we are to assume that activities such as playing computer games, surfing the internet and watching television are social activities that often take place within families, then these are important areas for exploring learning in families. There is also the potential for such informal learning to be acknowledged and harnessed by the formal education system.

However, there is a tension between the possibilities for technologies to connect people and bring them together to learn (such as using the Nintendo DS and Wii) with wider anxieties about the potential for technologies to isolate people (such as children using their computers alone in their bedrooms). FPI's research has highlighted that the way families spend time using technology is a massive change in family life. Parents specifically reported conflict between themselves and children about time and money spent on computers, mobile phones and watching TV and DVDs. It was felt that 'in many houses technology takes over from conversation' for example, and 'if children have computers and DVD players in their bedroom, family life doesn't exist'. Yet parents also acknowledged the benefits of technology in helping their children with learning.

Similarly, as Sefton-Green notes, parents are often confused by the mixed messages surrounding the effect of ICT on young people's learning. "On the one hand much of the theory and data suggests that left to themselves, children can get a lot from experiences like games or chat rooms which periodically get slated in the press for the demonic and un-educational properties." ⁹⁵

It is therefore important for any research into learning in families to take into account parents' anxiety around technology, and how this anxiety may impact on the ways in which ICT is (permitted to be) used within family learning experiences.

Summary and implications

'Parental Involvement' and 'parental engagement' are used inter-changeably. However, there are signs that the term, parental engagement is being employed as an 'all encompassing' term. Parental engagement takes into account the range and diversity of ways that parents can become engaged in their children's learning beyond the more visible forms, such as attending PTA meetings.

This means that this research takes a wider approach to examining the range of ways that parents may be engaged in their children's learning.

93 Family and Parenting Institute 2005

95 Sefton-Green 2004, p31

⁹² Ibid, p199

⁹⁴ Ibid, p5

Home-school communication is seen to be essential in fostering parental involvement and engagement. This refers to the broad and varied means by which information and knowledge is exchanged between the home and school that enables parents (and teachers) to help children in their learning. This is not simply relaying information, but also providing parents with access to the tools by which they can understand their children's progress at school and support them to do better.

However, home-school communication is most effective when it is two-way, allowing information and knowledge to flow from home to school as well as from school to home.

For this research, we therefore attend to how technology can support (or inhibit) more effective, two-way communication between home and school.

Technology is playing an increasing role in schools' strategies for engaging and communicating with parents. Technology can be exploited to provide new, more varied and flexible ways of communicating information and knowledge to parents (and vice versa). It can thus foster more effective and positive relationships between home and school.

Parental engagement is complex and influenced by numerous factors that impact on parents in unequal ways, with working-class and minority ethnic parents most likely to be negatively affected by these.

This research aims to examine how parents may experience complex barriers and the ways in which technology may overcome or inhibit these.

'Family learning' tends to be used to refer to formal schemes or programmes aimed at raising parents' basic skills and involve them further in their children's education. The expression 'learning in families', however encompasses broader learning that takes place outside of school, informally involving various different family members. This research focuses on this wider concept of informal learning in families in order to explore more fully the different spaces and relationships in which learning can occur and how technology features in this.

Extended schools feature prominently in the Government's drive to promote learning in families. Access to ICT facilities, classes and sessions are a key aspect of extended schools and as such are explored in this research.

With the focus of family learning and learning in families often being on those in 'deprived' communities and those parents with low levels of education, this research takes care not to promote a deficit model of such families. Instead, it pays attention to the **barriers** that certain families face to learning and to technological competency.

New technologies are a central feature of home life for most families. If we take a broad view of learning, which takes into account learning through play and exploration, there is certainly potential for learning in families to occur. There is a small but growing body of research that suggests that the internet is seen as a key area of learning in the home, with children often appearing as educators to adults. However, evidence also suggests that parents have clear concerns about the negative effects of technology on their children.

This research is aware of these concerns and explores the different ways in which parents see the potential for learning using technologies in the home.

References

Alan, D, Beresford, E and Splawnyk, E (2007), 'The Manchester Transition project: Implications for the Development of Parental Involvement in Primary Schools', Department for Children, Schools and Families (DCSF).

Angus, L, Snyder, I and Sutherland-Smith, W (2004), 'ICT and Educational (Dis)advantage: Families, Computers and Contemporary Social and Educational Inequalities', *British Journal of Sociology of Education* 25(1), 3-18.

Archer, L and Yamashita, H (2003), "Knowing their Limits'? Identities, Inequalities and Inner City School Leavers' Post-16 Aspirations', *Journal of Education Policy* 18(1), 53-69.

Bastiani, J (1997), 'Raising the Profile of Home-School Liaison with Minority Ethnic Parents and Families: a Wider View', in Bastiani, J (ed) *Home-School work in Multicultural Settings*, David Fulton.

Bastiani, J and Wyse, B (1999), *Introducing Your Home-School Agreement*, Royal Society for the encouragement of Arts (RSA).

Becta (2008), Harnessing Technology: Next Generation Learning 2008-14, Becta.

Becta (undated) Extending the School's ICT to the Community, Becta.

Borg, C and Mayo, P (2001), 'From 'Adjuncts' to 'Subjects': Parental Involvement in a Working-Class Community', *British Journal of Sociology of Education* 22(2), 245-266.

Brooks, G, Gorman, T, Harman, J, Hutchinson, D and Wilkin, A (1996), Family Literacy Works: The NFER Evaluation of the Basic Skills Agency's Family Literacy Demonstration Programmes, Basic Skills Agency.

Brooks, G, Gorman, T, Harman, J, Hutchison, D, Kinder, K, Moor, H and Wilkin, A (1997), Family Literacy Lasts: the National Foundation for Educational Research, Follow-up Study of the Basic Skills Agency's Demonstration Programmes, Basic Skills Agency.

Centre for Educational Research and Innovation (1997), *Parents as Partners in Schooling*, Paris: OECD

Chamberlain, T (2006), What is Happening in Extended Schools? Annual Survey of Trends in Education, NFER for the Local Government Association.

Coombs, P H and Ahmed, M (1974), *Attacking Rural Poverty: How Non-Formal Education Can Help*, Baltimore: John Hopkins University Press.

Crozier, G (1997), 'Empowering the Powerful: A Discussion of the Interrelation of Government Policies and Consumerism with Social Class Factors and the Impact of This Upon Parent Interventions in Their Children's Schooling', *British Journal of Sociology of Education* 18(2), 87-199.

Crozier, G (1998), 'Parents and Schools: Partnerships or Surveillance?', *The Journal of Education Policy* 13(1), 125-136.

Crozier, G (1999), 'Is it a Case of 'We Know When We're Not Wanted'? The Parents' Perspective on Parent-Teacher Roles and Relationships', *Educational Research* 3(3), 315-328.

Crozier, G and Davies, J (2007), 'Hard-to-Reach Parents or Hard-to-Reach Schools? A Discussion of Home-School Relations, with Particular Reference to Bangladeshi and Pakistani Parents', *British Educational Research Journal* 33(3), 295-313.

Crozier, G and Reay, D (2005), *Activating Participation: Parents and Teachers Working Towards Partnership*, Trentham Books.

Davies, C, Carter, A, Cranmer, S, Eynon, R, Furlong, J, Good, J, Hjorth, I A, Lee, S, Malmberg, L and Holmes, W (Forthcoming), *The Learner in Their Context*, Becta.

Department for Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS) (2009), *Digital Britain, Interim Report*, DCMS.

Department for Children, Schools and Families (DCSF)(2005), *Extended Schools:* Access to Opportunities and Services for All, The Stationery Office.

DCSF (2007a), The Children's Plan: Building Brighter Futures, The Stationery Office.

DCSF (2007b), Every Parent Matters, DCSF.

DCSF (2007c), Extended Schools: Building on Experience, DCSF.

DCSF (2008), The Impact of Parental Involvement on Children's Education, DCSF.

Department for Education and Employment (DfEE) (2001), Skills for Life: A national Strategy for Improving Adult Literacy and Numeracy Skills, DfEE.

Department for Education and Skills (DfES) (2003), Every Child Matters, The Stationery Office.

DfES (2004), The Impact of Parental Involvement on Children's Education, The Stationery Office.

DfES (2005a), Harnessing Technology: Transforming Learning and Children's Services, DfES.

DfES (2005b), Higher Standards, Better Schools for all, More Choice for Parents and Pupils, DfES.

DfES (2006). 2020 Vision: Report of the Teaching and Learning in 2020 Review Group. Nottingham: DfES Publications

Desforges, C and Abouchar, A (2003), The Impact of Parental Involvement, Parental Support and Family Education on Pupil Achievements and Adjustment: A Literature Review, DfES.

Di Maggio, P (2001), 'Social Stratification, Life-style, Social Cognition and Social Participation', in Grusky, D (ed) *Social Stratification: Class, Race and Gender in Sociological Perspective (2nd Edition)*, Westview Press.

Dyson, A and Robson, E (1999), *School, Family, Community: Mapping School Inclusion in the UK,* Youth Work Press in collaboration with the Joseph Rowntree Foundation.

Edwards, A and Warin, J (1999), 'Parental Involvement in Raising the Achievement of Primary School Pupils: Why Bother?', *Oxford Review of Education* 25(3), 325-341.

Epstein, J (1992), 'School and Family Partnerships', in M. C. Alkin (ed) *Encyclopedia of Educational Research*, Macmillan.

Family and Parenting Institute (FPI) (2005) Real Stories, How Families Spend Time: the First Annual Parenting Report, FPI.

Farrell, C M and Jones, J (2000), 'Evaluating Stakeholder Participation in Public Services – Parents and Schools', *Policy & Politics* 28(2), 251-62.

Feinstein, L (2003) 'Inequality in the Early Cognitive Development of British Children in the 1970 Cohort', *Economica* 70, 73-97.

Feinstein, L, Hearn, B, Renton, Z, Abrahams, C and MacLeod, M (2007), *Reducing Inequalities*, National Children's Bureau, London Family and Parenting Institute and Institute of Education.

Frater, G (1995) 'Literacy and Policy', in B. Raban-Bisby, Brooks, G and Wolfendale, S (eds) *Developing Language and Literacy*, Trentham.

Fredriksson, U, Jedeskog, G and Plomp, T (2008), 'Innovative Use of ICT in Schools Based on the Findings in ELFE Project', *Education and Information Technologies* 13, 83-101.

Gee, J P (2004), What Video Games Have to teach us About Literacy and Learning, Palgrave Macmillan.

Goldman, R (2005), *Fathers' Involvement in Their Children's Education*, National Family and Parenting Institute.

Grant, L (2007), Learning to be part of the Knowledge Economy: Digital Divides and Media Literacy, Futurelab.

Grant, L (2009), Learning in Families: A Review of Research Evidence and the Current Landscape of Learning in Families with Digital Technologies, Futurelab.

Hannon, P and Bird, V (2004), 'Family literacy in England: Theory, Practice, Research, and Policy', in Wasik, BH (ed) *Handbook of Family Literacy,* Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

Hannon, P, Morgan, A and Nutbrown, C (2006), 'Parents' Experiences of a Family Literacy Programme', *Journal of Early Childhood Research* 4(1), 19-44.

Hara, S R and Burke, D J (1998) 'Parental involvement: The Key to Improved Student Achievement', *The Community Journal* 8(2), 9-19.

Harris, A and Goodall, J (2007), 'Engaging Parents in Raising Achievement: Do parents Know they Matter?' A research project commissioned by the Specialist Schools and Academies Trust (SSAT).

Hart, R, Bober, M and Pine, K (2008), *Learning in the Family: Parental Engagement in Children's Learning with Technology,* Intuitive Media Research Services with the University of Hertfordshire.

Hollingworth, S, Allen, K, Hutchings, M, Kuyok, K A and Williams, K (2008), Technology and School Improvement: Reducing Social Inequity with Technology?, Becta.

Hood, S (1999), 'Home-School Agreements: A True Partnership?', *School Leadership and Management* 19(4), 427-440.

Hornby, G (2000), Improving Parental Involvement, Cassell.

Horne, J and Haggart, J (2004), *The Impact of Adults' Participation in Family Learning: A Study based in Lancashire*, NIACE.

Issa, T, Allen, K and Ross, A (2008), Raising the Educational Attainment of Children from London's Turkish-Speaking Communities: A report for the Mayor of London, Institute for Policy Studies in Education (IPSE).

Keating, I and Taylorson, D (1999), 'The Other Mum's Army: Issues of Parental Involvement in Early Education', *Early Years* 17(1), 32-35.

Lareau, A (1987), 'Social Class Differences in Family-School Relationships: The Importance of Cultural Capital', *Sociology of Education* 60(2), 73-85.

Lawson, T and Comber, C (1999), 'Superhighways Technology: Personnel Factors Leading to Successful Integration of Information and Communications Technology in Schools and Colleges', *Journal of Information Technology for Teacher Education* 8(1), 41-43.

Lee, J and Bowen, N K (2006), 'Parent Involvement, Cultural Capital, and the Achievement Gap Among Elementary School Children', *American Educational Research Journal* 43(2), 193-218.

Lee, L (2008) 'The Impact of Young People's Internet Use on Class Boundaries and Life Trajectories', *Sociology* 42(1)137-153.

Maylor, U, Ross, A, Rollock, N and Williams, K (2005), *Black Teachers in London Report*, Greater London Authority.

McDowell, L (2003), Redundant Masculinities? Employment Change and White Working Class Youth, Blackwell.

Mirza, H and Reay, D (2000), 'Spaces and Places of Black Educational Desire: Rethinking Black Supplementary Schools as a new Social Movement', *Sociology* 34(3), 521-44.

Moon, N and Ivins, C (2004), *Parental Involvement in Children's Education*, Department for Education and skills (DfES).

Muschamp, Y, Wikeley, F, Ridge, T and Balarin, M (2007), Research Survey 7/1: Parenting, Caring and Educating, Cambridge University.

NACCCE (1999) All Our Futures: Creative and Cultural Education, DCMS (National Advisory Committee on Creative and Cultural Education).

Nayak, A (2006), 'Displaced Masculinities: Chavs, Youth and Class in the Post-Industrial City', *Sociology* 40(5), 813-831.

NIACE (2003), Evaluation of LSC-Funded Family Programmes, NIACE.

OECD (1997), *Literacy Skills for the Knowledge Society*, Human Resources Development Canada and Minister responsible for Statistics.

Ofsted (2000), Family Learning: A Survey of Current Practice, The Stationery Office

Ouston, J and Hood, S (2000), 'Home School Agreements: A True Partnership?', The Research and Information on State Education Trust (RISE).

Page, A, Das, S, Mangabeira, W and Natale, L (2009), 'School-Parent Partnerships: Emerging Strategies to Promote Innovation in Schools', Family and Parenting Institute.

Peters, M, Seeds, K, Goldstein, A, and Coleman, N (2008), *Involvement in Children's Education 2007*, DCSF.

Powell, D R (1991), 'How Schools Support Families: Critical Policy Tensions', *Elementary School Journal* 91(3), 307-19.

Reay, D (1996), 'Contextualising Choice: Social Power and Parental Involvement', *British Educational Research Journal* 22(5), 581-595.

Reay, D (1998), Class Work: Mothers' Involvement in Their Children's Primary Schooling, UCL Press.

Reay, D (2001), 'Finding or Losing Yourself? Working-Class Relationships to Education', *Journal of Education Policy* 16(4): 333 - 346.

Reynolds, J (2005), 'Parents Involvement in Their Children's Learning and Schools: How Should Their Responsibilities Relate to the Role of the State?' in NFPI (ed) *Policy Discussion Paper*, NFPI.

Rose, A and Atkin, C (2007), 'Family Literacy in Europe: Separate Agendas?', *Compare: A Journal of Comparative Education* 37(5), 601-615.

Sefton-Green, J (2004), Literature Review in Informal Learning with Technology Outside School, Futurelab

Selwyn, N (2003) 'Defining the 'Digital Divide': Developing a Theoretical Understanding of Inequalities in the Information Age' *Adults Learning @ Home: An ESRC funded research project*, Occasional paper 49, Cardiff: Cardiff University.

Selwyn, N and Facer, K (2007), 'Beyond the Digital Divide: Rethinking Digital Inclusion for the 21st Century', in Futurelab (ed) *Opening Education*, Futurelab.

Smith, P, Rudd, P and Coghlan, M (2008), 'Harnessing Technology: Schools Survey 2008: Report 1: Analysis', Becta.

Sneddon, R (1997), 'Working Towards Partnerships: Parents, Teachers and Community Organisations', in Bastiani, J (ed), *Home-School Work in Multicultural Settings*, David Fulton.

Somekh, B, Mavers, D and Lewin, C (2003), *Using ICT to Enhance Home School Links: an Evaluation of Current Practice in England*, DfES, Becta.

Stern, J (2003), Involving Parents, Continuum.

Sure Start (2007) Parents as Partners in Early Learning (PPEL) Project: Parental Involvement: A Snapshot of Policy and Practice PPEL Project Phase 1 Report, London Sure Start.

Tett, L (2001), 'Parents as Problems or Parents as People? Parental Involvement Programmes, Schools and Adult Educators', *International Journal of Lifelong Education* 20(3), 88-198.

Tomlinson, S (1991), *Teachers and Parents: Home-School Partnerships*, Institute for Public Policy Research (IPPR).

UNESCO (2005), 'European Regional Meeting on Literacy Held in Lyon, April 2005', *UIE Nexus Electronic Newsletter Hamburg* 5 (2).

Vincent, C (1996), Parents and Teachers: Power and Participation, Falmer Press.

Vincent, C (2002), 'Parental Involvement and Voice in Inclusive Schooling', in Campbell, C (ed) *Developing Inclusive Schooling: Perspectives, Policies and Practices*, Institute of Education.

Vincent, C, and Martin, J (2000) 'School-Based Parents' Groups: A Politics of Voice and Representation', *Journal of Educational Policy* 15(5), 459-480.

Williams, B, Williams, J and Ullman, A (2002), *Parental Involvement in Education*', DfES.

Willis, P (1977), Learning to Labour: Why Working-Class Kids Get Working-Class Jobs, Saxon House.